




Penney entered the catalog business in 
1962 and acquired General Merchan-
dise. Penney then expanded it, turning 
it into a 2 million square-foot ware-
house. Penney’s warehouse was by far 
the largest of the warehouses. 

Burleigh also was the street address 
for a sprawling Briggs & Stratton 
manufacturing plant, built in 1954 on 
83 acres northeast of 124th and Bur-
leigh streets.

Since the early 1900s, many area 
wholesale grocers worked along Com-
mission Row, a stretch of Broadway in 
Milwaukee’s Third Ward. That land had 
opened to the wholesalers and other 
light industry after a disastrous fire in 
1892 had reduced much of the Third 
Ward to rubble.

By the 1950s, one-story warehousing 
was seen as more efficient.

The growing popularity of frozen 
food was another factor in development 
along Burleigh.

Philip G. Kuehn, president of Wis-
consin Cold Storage Co., announced in 
1953 that he would build on a 75-acre 
tract along Burleigh to create a mil-
lion cubic feet of cold storage space. 
The new location would eliminate long 
truck hauls through congested parts of 
Milwaukee, he said at the time.

Kuehn also was active in the Repub-
lican party and was narrowly defeated 
in the 1960 and 1962 gubernatorial 
elections. “I’m keen for Kuehn” was his 
slogan, but voters apparently weren’t 

keen about his advocacy for a sales tax. 
Kuehn died in 1992 at age 72.

Mohawk Cold Storage, a division of 
Wisconsin Cold Storage, handled 2 to 
3 million pounds of meat each week 
from area slaughterhouses. The meat 
was frozen in a blast freezer room where 
the temperature would get down to 10 
below zero and lower.

Mohawk sold off portions of its land 
in 1955 for warehouses owned by 
Roundy’s and A&P, and later for the 
Kohl’s food stores.

Roundy’s, then known as Roundy, 
Peckham & Dexter, built a warehouse 
with 160,000 square feet and shipped a 
daily average of 230 tons of foodstuffs 
to retailers. 

Roundy’s, founded in 1872, had its 
headquarters on Commission Row 
from 1885 until its move to Wauwa-
tosa. It built its warehouse at 113th 
and Burleigh and added on in 1960 
and 1968, giving it more than 375,000 
square feet for storage, plus 45 exterior 
docks.

Roundy’s in 2005 moved its dis-
tribution center to the Pabst Farms 
Commerce Centre in Oconomowoc, 
building a state-of-the art warehouse 
with 950,000 square feet. In late 2015, 
the Kroger Co. bought Roundy’s Inc.

Other grocery wholesalers drawn 
to the area included Hartwig Poultry 
Farms, J.D. Jewell meat packers and 
Mueller Brothers fish and seafood.

While the grocery warehouses were 
well served by the railroad, motorists 
on Burleigh were not. 

An at-grade rail crossing west of 

Mayfair Road was blamed for frequent 
traffic tie-ups. In 1968, the City of 
Wauwatosa petitioned the Public Ser-
vice Commission to order the Chicago 
& North Western Railway to construct 
an underpass. The commission at first 
rejected that plea, but later agreed and 
the $1 million underpass opened in 
1974.

Also drawn to the bustling stretch of 
Burleigh in the 1950s were Schwaab 
Stamp & Seal Co., Stroh Die Casting 
Co., two car dealerships and Bowlero, 
which opened in 1959 at 117th and 
Burleigh with 72 lanes and three ban-
quet rooms.

The first of the warehouses to be va-
cated was A&P. The chain pulled out of 
the Milwaukee market by 1966. Before 
its demolition for the Mayfair Collec-
tion, the old A&P building housed a 
building supply company and, later, an 
advertising and printing business.

A&P returned to the Milwaukee mar-
ket in 1983 by purchasing the Kohl’s 
Food Store chain, but closed the stores 
in 2003 and sold off the buildings in 
order to reduce debt.

The first phase of the Mayfair Collec-
tion opened in 2014. Developers plan 
to expand the project to include more 
stores, a hotel and more than 1,000 
housing units that would overlook 
Currie Park, a county park that also has 
been transformed over the years. Part 
of it served as the county’s first airport 
(1919-1926) and part of what today 
is the golf course was a quarry and, as 
recently as about 1960, a City of Mil-
waukee dump.

It’s bigger today, but “thirteen acres under one roof” is what promoters said of the distribution center built in 1958 and later acquired 
by J.C. Penney Co. This view looks northwest. I-41 now runs along the east side of the structure. The smaller building in the fore-
ground is Hillside Transit Co. 
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ON THE RUN FOR 25th YEAR

7406 HILLCREST DRIVE
WAUWATOSA, WI 53213
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WALK OR RUN, BUT JOIN US FOR THE FUN

This year’s Blarney Run/Walk is a big one!
It’s the 25th year for the fund-raiser, and for 23 of those 

years the event has benefitted the Wauwatosa Historical 
Society’s mission of preserving and disseminating Wauwa-
tosa history.

At the awards ceremony following the run, we hope to 
bring together all of the founders of the event and recognize 
them for their hard work, particularly Jeff Roznowski, 
chairman of the event for 23 years. Jeff is putting away his 
green sneakers after this year’s run.

The run/walk is at 10 a.m. Saturday, March 12 and starts 
and finishes at Hoyt Park & Pool’s Grand Hall, 1800 N. 
Swan Blvd. The 3.1 mile (5k) and 2-mile walk are open to 
everyone.

Registration is $25 in advance and $30 on the day of the 
race.

A 100-yard Twinkle Trot fun run for children 10 and 
under follows. Registration is $6 in advance and $8 on the 
day of the event.

About 500 participants are anticipated.
WHS is grateful to continuing sponsorships of the Blar-

ney by Wheaton Franciscan/St. Joseph, The Cordon Fam-
ily Foundation, Mo’s Irish Pub and Leff’s Lucky Town.
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